
Team P07 

 
 

No. XX-XXXXX 
_____________ 

 
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 

_____________ 
 

Robert Maxelrod et al., 
Petitioner 

 
v. 
 

Ava Cato, 
Respondent 

_____________ 
 

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED 
STATES 

 
_____________ 

 
BRIEF FOR P07 

 
Counsel of Record 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Team P07 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

QUESTION PRESENTED ................................................................................................................................ 4 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE .......................................................................................................................... 5 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT .................................................................................................................. 9 

STANDARD OF REVIEW ............................................................................................................................... 10 

ARGUMENT ..................................................................................................................................................... 11 

I. SECTION 10(B) APPLIES TO THE DOMESTIC PURCHASE OF AMERICAN DEPOSITORY 
RECEIPTS (ADRS) OF ALCOLLEZIONE BECAUSE MORRISON DICTATES THAT ITS 
APPLICABILITY IS DETERMINED BY THE PLACE OF THE TRANSACTION – HERE, THE 
UNITED STATES. ........................................................................................................................................... 11 

A. THE TRANSACTIONS AT ISSUE ARE COVERED BY THE U.S. EXCHANGE ACT BECAUSE 
UNDER MORRISON THE TRANSACTIONS ARE DOMESTIC. ............................................................................ 12 

B. WHETHER AN ADR IS SPONSORED OR UNSPONSORED DOES NOT IMPACT MORRISON'S 
RULE. ............................................................................................................................................................................. 13 

C. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN REVIVING THE “CONDUCT” AND “EFFECTS” TEST THAT THE 
SUPREME COURT REJECTED IN MORRISON .................................................................................................... 15 

II. CATO’S INSERTION OF A FRAUDULENT STATEMENT INTO INVESTOR MATERIALS 
MAKES HER PRIMARILY LIABLE UNDER RULE 10B-5(A) OR 10B-5(C) BECAUSE THE 
PROVISIONS OF RULE 10B-5 ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE AND PRIMARY LIABILITY 
COVERS THE CONDUCT IN QUESTION. ................................................................................................. 17 

A. CATO IS SUBJECT TO LIABILITY UNDER RULE 10B-5(A) OR 10B-5(C) BECAUSE THESE 
PROVISIONS ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE WITH 10B-5(B) AS DEMONSTRATED BY THE TEXT 
OF RULE 10B-5, PRECEDENT, RELIANCE ON THIS PRECEDENT, AND PURPOSE OF THE RULE. ..... 18 

i. PROVISIONS OF RULE 10B-5 ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE BECAUSE OF THE RULE’S TEXT. ...........19 
ii. PROVISIONS OF RULE 10B-5 ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE BECAUSE OF PRECEDENT. .......................20 
iii. COURTS RELY ON THE PRECEDENT THAT PROVISIONS OF RULE 10B-5 ARE NOT MUTUALLY 
EXCLUSIVE. ........................................................................................................................................................................................................21 
iv. PROVISIONS OF RULE 10B-5 ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE BECAUSE OF THE RULE’S PURPOSE. ..22 

B. CATO IS PRIMARILY LIABLE BECAUSE HER ACTIONS CONSTITUTED DISSEMINATION, HER 
ROLE AS A SECONDARY ACTOR DOES NOT PRECLUDE PRIMARY LIABILITY, AND SECONDARY 
LIABILITY IS INAPPROPRIATE GIVEN CATO’S INVOLVEMENT IN THE CONDUCT IN QUESTION. ........ 23 

i. CATO’S ACTIONS SUBJECT HER TO PRIMARY LIABILITY AS A DISSEMINATOR. .................................................24 
ii. CATO CAN STILL BE PRIMARILY LIABLE EVEN THOUGH SHE IS A SECONDARY ACTOR. ..............................25 
iii. CATO’S CONDUCT FAR EXCEEDS THE CONDUCT COVERED BY SECONDARY LIABILITY. ............................26 

CONCLUSION .................................................................................................................................................. 28 

 
 
 



Team P07 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

CASES 
Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60 (2d Cir. 2012) .......12, 13, 14, 15 
Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 (1972) ......................................... 19, 23, 27 
Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A. 511 U.S. 164 (1994) .. 19, 25 
Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc., 573 U.S. 258 (2014) ......................................... 17, 22 
Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375 (1983)........................................................... 25 
In re Cady, Roberts & Co., 40 S.E.C. 907  (Nov. 8, 1961) .......................................................... 23 
In re Ward La France Truck Corp., 13 S.E.C. 373 (May 20, 1943) ............................................. 23 
Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 U.S. 135 (2011) ................... 18, 24, 25 
Lorenzo v. SEC, 139 S. Ct. 1094 (2019) ............................................................................ passim 
Morrison v. National Australia Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247 (2010) .......................................... passim 
S.E.C. v. Benger, 2013 WL 593952  (N.D. Ill. 2013)................................................................... 13 
S.E.C. v. World Capital Mkt., Inc., 864 F.3d 996 (9th Cir. 2017) ............................................... 13 
SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. 180, 198 (1963) ............................... 19, 23 
SEC v. Seethruequity, LLC.  2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71997 (S.D.N.Y. 2019) ............................... 22 
Stoneridge Investment Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., 552 U.S. 148 (2008). ........... 24, 25 
Stoyas v. Toshiba, 896 F.3d 933 (9th Cir. 2018) ....................................................................... 13 
Superintendent of Ins. Of N.Y. v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6 (1971) ...................... 20, 23 
United States v. Georgiou, 777 F.3d 125 (3d Cir. 2015) ............................................................. 13 

REGULATIONS 
Additional Form F-6 Eligibility Requirement, 68 Fed. Reg. 54644-01 (Sept. 17, 2003) (to be 

codified at 17 CFR Part 239) ................................................................................................. 14 
C.F.R. 240.10b-5(a), (c) ............................................................................................................. 19 
17 CFR § 240.10b-5 ............................................................................................................ 17, 18 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Team P07 

QUESTION PRESENTED 
 

1. Whether, under Morrison’s location-based test for extraterritorial 
application of the Securities Exchange Act, the domestic purchase of 
unsponsored American Depository Receipts is sufficient to subject a 
foreign company to U.S. securities laws.  
 

2. Whether an employee who researched an issue, drafted fraudulent 
statements, and inserted those statements into investor materials, at the 
behest of her superior, is subject to primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) 
or 10b-5(c) even if she did not make the statement for the purpose of 
Rule 10b-5(b). 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

In 2009, New York native Gianni Marconi and his friend and former 

colleague, Benny Factor partnered in a venture called Alcollezione, an Italian 

wine and spirits company, in an effort to challenge the Lampari Group as the 

dominant market-leader in the wine-and-spirits sector. R. at 1. 

Marconi and Factor hired Ava Cato as General Counsel in 2009 

specifically because they did not know a lot about Italian law. R. at 2. Cato was 

a “bright young Italian attorney” who graduated from the top of her 

class. Id. As General Counsel, Cato established Alcollezione’s headquarters in 

Milan and structured the entity as the Italian equivalent of a 

corporation. Although Cato was not initially familiar with the legal landscape of 

beverage regulations, she quickly learned the relevant law so she could counsel 

Marconi and Factor on compliance. Id. 

The business boomed and Alcollezione began to expand. Id. The company 

decided to go public and in preparation for a 2011 initial public offering (“IPO”), 

Alcollezione created an “Investor Relations” section on its website, where it 

posted financial statements, corporate disclosures, and other investor 

materials in both Italian and English. R. at 3. With the capital raised from the 

IPO, Alcollezione expanded its markets across Europe and into the United 

States. Id. At this point, Marconi, Factor and Cato all recognized the growing 

success of their company in the United States market. Id.  

Eventually, Marconi received a call from Schutt, Factor’s friend, who 

informed Marconi that she was considering using her position at Hansen Bank 
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and Trust, a New York depository institution, to set up an unsponsored ADR 

for Alcollezione, in order to give her interested colleagues an opportunity to buy 

into the company. R. at 4. Several weeks later, Hansen Bank and Trust filed a 

Form F-6 to register the unsponsored Alcollezione ADRs. Id.  The ADRs traded 

over the counter (“OTC”) and were purchased via phone by various hedge fund 

managers in New York and Connecticut with the assistance of Hansen Bank 

and Trust employees. Id.  

Ahead of the 2017 Annual Shareholders Meeting (the “Annual Meeting”), 

Marconi suggested the company should consider producing a spiked mineral 

water. R. at 5. Cato was in charge of researching the Italian regulatory 

landscape for alcoholic sparkling beverages, which she undertook ahead of her 

annual performance review. Id. She realized compliance with the regulations 

would be difficult, and she communicated to Marconi that it “would be an 

uphill climb” and “unlikely in the short term.” Id. Marconi did not waver and 

stated, “these things always find a way of getting resolved.” Id. He added that 

he would “handle the PR stuff if there is blowback.” Id. Cato remained 

skeptical, and Marconi told her the announcement would happen with or 

without her. Id.  

Despite her continued skepticism, Cato drafted assurances that 

Frizzantissimo, the premier Italian spiked mineral water, would be approved 

and ready for market in the second quarter of 2018. R. at 6. She also 

condensed the assurances into a disclosure, and they were inserted into 

Marconi’s slide deck and Factor’s pro-forma financial statements. Id. 
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After the stockholder’s meeting, the stock (and the ADRs) soared over 8% in 

after-hours trading. Id. The slide deck and financial statements were posted to 

the Investor Relations section of Alcollezione’s webpage along with a video file 

of the announcement and an accompanying press release. Id.  

On March 14, 2018 the Alcollezione management team received word 

that all production of the Frizzantissimo would have to halt due to 

noncompliance with quality control standards of production. Id. The stock price 

quickly tumbled by nearly 29% while the ADR price dropped nearly 27%. Id.  

The hedge fund managers who had purchased Alcollezione ADRs in the 

United States between the Annual Meeting and March 14, 2018 incurred 

severe losses when their price precipitously collapsed. R. at 7. They 

commenced an action in the United States District Court for the District of 

Fordham on September 6, 2018. Id.  

The hedge fund managers allege that Alcollezione and its former 

executives Marconi, Factor, and Cato (collectively “Defendants”) committed 

securities fraud in violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities Act of 1934, 15 

U.S.C. § 78j(b), (the “Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. 17 C.F.R. § 

240.10b-5 (hereinafter “Rule 10b-5”). After the hedge fund managers settled 

with Alcollezione in late September 2018, only the claims against the former 

executives remained. R. at 8.  

After waiving service, Defendants each filed separate Rule 12(b)(6) 

motions to dismiss the action for failure to state a claim upon which relief can 

be granted. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). In their motions, Defendants asserted 
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that they were not involved in any domestic transaction within the purview of 

U.S. securities laws and thus the claims must be dismissed on the merits. R. at 

8.  Cato and Factor further moved to dismiss the complaint against them 

because the hedge fund managers failed to adequately allege a primary 

violation of Section 10(b). Id.  

On November 21, 2018, the District Court found that the defendants 

were involved in a domestic transaction sufficient for Section 10(b) to apply 

extraterritorially in this case. Id. The court also rejected Cato’s argument that 

she could not be primarily liable, instead finding that Cato effectively served as 

the disseminator of Marconi’s allegedly false or misleading statements which 

subjects her to primary liability under 10b-5(a) or (c). Id.  

After Marconi settled, Cato sought interlocutory appeal of two issues 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b). Id. First, Cato argued that the District Court 

erred in relying on Stoyas v. Toshiba, 896 F.3d 933 (9th Cir. 2018), to find that 

involvement in a domestic transaction with the hedge fund managers is alone 

sufficient for the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. Id. 

Second, Cato argued that the District Court erred in finding that even though 

she was not the “maker” of the misstatements, she was still subject to primary 

liability, positing that: (1) Lorenzo v. Securities and Exchange Commission, 139 

S. Ct. 1094 (2019) is not controlling, and (2) even applying Lorenzo here, Cato 

is not subject to primary liability because she is not a disseminator. Id. The 

District Court certified these two narrow issues, and the Fourteenth Circuit 
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accepted them on appeal. R. at 9. The Circuit Court agreed with Defendant-

Appellee, reversing the District Court. R. at 23.  

The Plaintiff, Mr. Maxelrod, now appeals to the United States Supreme 

Court. R. at 34. We ask that the Supreme Court reverse the Circuit Court and 

restore the District Court’s judgement, denying the motion to dismiss, as the 

District Court was correct in finding that a domestic purchase of unsponsored 

ADRSs is sufficient to subject the foreign company to U.S. securities laws and 

that an employee who inserts a false or misleading statement into investor 

materials, is subject to primary liability under Rule 10b- 5(a) or (c), even if that 

individual is not the maker of the statement for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b). 

 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 
 

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act (the Act) should apply in 

this case because the purchase of unsponsored American Depository Receipts 

(ADRs) of Alcollezione was a domestic transaction. Under Morrison, the Act will 

apply to transactions in securities listed on domestic exchanges, and domestic 

transactions in other securities. Firstly, the transaction at issue, the purchase 

of the ADRs, is irrefutably domestic. Secondly, whether the ADR is sponsored 

or unsponsored is irrelevant to the scope of the Act. In fact, Morrison dictates 

that the Act’s applicability is determined by the place of the transaction, here 

the United States, and not the type of security at issue. Finally, in determining 

the scope of the Act considering any factor other than location of the 
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transaction is erroneous, as the Court explicitly rejected such a test in 

Morrison. 

Cato should be found primarily liable under Rule 10b-5 for two reasons: 

first, her conduct is covered by Rule 10b-5(a) or (c), and second, she is 

primarily liable as a disseminator. Cato’s conduct is covered by Rule 10b-5, 

even though she is not a maker under Rule 10b-5(b), because the provisions of 

Rule 10b-5 are not mutually exclusive. Her conduct exposes her to liability 

under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) based on the text of the Rule, Supreme Court 

precedent interpreting the Rule, lower courts’ reliance on this interpretation, 

and, most importantly, the purpose of the Rule itself. Additionally, Cato is 

primarily liable because her actions constitute dissemination, her role as a 

secondary actor does not preclude her from primary liability, and secondary 

aiding and abetting liability is inappropriate given the level of Cato’s 

involvement as a disseminator.   

 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 

The Fourteenth Circuit’s decision to reverse the District Court’s denial of 

a motion to dismiss under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) will be 

reviewed de novo. Wormser v. Mulligan, 104 F.4th 267, 271 (14th Cir. 

2018); see also Crystallex Int’l Corp. v. Petroleos De Venezuela, S.A., 879 F.3d 

79, 83 n.6 (3d Cir. 2018). This Court must determine whether the facts alleged 

support a claim that is plausible on its face and whether it can “draw the 

reasonable inference that the defendant[s] [are] liable for the misconduct 
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alleged.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citing Bell Atl. Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 556 (2007)). 

ARGUMENT 

I. SECTION 10(B) APPLIES TO THE DOMESTIC PURCHASE OF 
AMERICAN DEPOSITORY RECEIPTS (ADRS) OF ALCOLLEZIONE 
BECAUSE MORRISON DICTATES THAT ITS APPLICABILITY IS 
DETERMINED BY THE PLACE OF THE TRANSACTION – HERE, 
THE UNITED STATES. 

 
Morrison holds that “the focus of the Exchange Act is not upon the place 

where the deception originated, but upon purchases and sales of securities in 

the United States.” Morrison v. National Australia Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. at 247, 

266 (2010) (emphasis added). The Supreme Court primarily sought to bring 

uniformity and predictability to the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) 

in Morrison. Id at 269. Thus, the extraterritorial reach of the U.S. Exchange Act 

(the Act) is based only on applying Morrison’s location-based test, which holds 

that the Act applies to “only transactions in securities listed on domestic 

exchanges, and domestic transactions in other securities...” 561 U.S. 267. 

Here the relevant consideration for determining the Act's reach is not 

that some of the conduct related to Alcollezione's fraud occurred in Italy, but 

rather that investors who purchased ADRs of Alcollezione in domestic 

transactions were defrauded by that conduct.  

Consequently, the Act applies, and the Circuit Court's ruling should be 

reversed because firstly, the transaction at issue occurred domestically, 

secondly, application of the Act does not depend on whether the ADR is 
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sponsored or unsponsored and finally, the conduct and effects of a transaction 

are irrelevant to the application of the act. 

A. THE TRANSACTIONS AT ISSUE ARE COVERED BY THE U.S. 
EXCHANGE ACT BECAUSE UNDER MORRISON THE TRANSACTIONS 
ARE DOMESTIC. 

 
The transaction, the sale of the ADRs, occurred in the United States, 

which is sufficient in determining that the Act applies. The Circuit Court's 

dismissal should be reversed because it was based on other factors that the 

Supreme Court explicitly rejected as considerations for determining 

extraterritorial application of the Act.  

The Court held that it is “only transactions in securities listed on 

domestic exchanges, and domestic transactions in other securities, to which 

[the securities fraud section of the Exchange Act] applies.” Morrison, 561 U.S. 

247, 267 (2010). 

Circuit courts defined domestic transactions by the place where 

“irrevocable liability” is transferred. For example, the Second Circuit holds that 

“a securities transaction is domestic when the parties incur irrevocable liability 

to carry out the transaction within the United States or when title is passed 

within the United States.” Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 

677 F.3d 60, 69 (2d Cir. 2012). Thus, “it is sufficient for a plaintiff to allege 

facts leading to the plausible inference that the parties incurred irrevocable 

liability within the United States: that is, that the purchaser incurred 

irrevocable liability within the United States to take and pay for a security, or 

that the seller incurred irrevocable liability within the United States to deliver a 
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security.” Id. at 68. See also S.E.C. v. World Capital Mkt., Inc., 864 F.3d 996, 

1008 (9th Cir. 2017); United States v. Georgiou, 777 F.3d 125, 136 (3d Cir. 

2015); S.E.C. v. Benger, 2013 WL 593952, at *9 (N.D. Ill. 2013).  

The consensus among circuits is significant for this case as it 

demonstrates that the transaction is domestic because irrevocable liability was 

transferred via the ADRs. Accordingly, even though the domestic purchase of 

the ADR does not qualify as a purchase on a domestic “exchange” under 

Morrison's first prong, it nonetheless qualifies for application of the Act under 

Morrison’s second prong as a “domestic transaction.” Stoyas v. Toshiba, 896 

F.3d 933, 948-49 (9th Cir. 2018). Here, the District Court found, and the 

Circuit Court agreed that “…under Absolute Activist’s “irrevocable liability” test, 

Appellees’ purchase of Alcollezione ADRs is irrefutably domestic…Clearly the 

purchase of these ADRs is domestic within the meaning of Section 10(b), and 

thus passes Morrison’s transactional test.” R. at 14. 

Thus, the domestic transactions in this case are covered under the U.S. 

Exchange Act on the basis of Morrison's second prong, which holds that the Act 

also applies to “domestic transactions in other securities.” 561 U.S. at 267.The 

Circuit Court erroneously considered factors beyond the domesticity of this 

transaction. Accordingly, the dismissal should be reversed. 

B. WHETHER AN ADR IS SPONSORED OR UNSPONSORED DOES NOT 
IMPACT MORRISON'S RULE. 

 
Both sponsored and unsponsored ADRs can be covered by the Act. The 

determinative consideration is where they were bought and sold. If they were 
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traded on a U.S. Exchange or traded in the United States, as here, the Act 

applies. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 267. Thus, even though the ADRs at issue are 

unsponsored, they are covered by Section 10(b). 

ADRs can be officially “sponsored” by the foreign issuer or 

“unsponsored.” Additional Form F-6 Eligibility Requirement, 68 Fed. Reg. 

54644-01, 54644 (Sept. 17, 2003) (to be codified at 17 CFR Part 239). The SEC 

regulates both sponsored and unsponsored ADRs. See id. Both represent a 

direct investment in the issuer's foreign stock. See id. Indeed, the SEC clarifies 

that “[a]lthough the terms of the deposit agreement for a sponsored ADR are 

different from those of an unsponsored ADR, sponsorship does not lead to 

different reporting or registration requirements under either the Exchange Act 

or the Securities Act.” Id. at 54644. Therefore, the fact that Alcollezione’s ADRs 

were not sponsored bears no impact on this case.  

Consistent with the SEC’s regulations and with Morrison's location-based 

test for application of the Act, the Second Circuit held that it “cannot conclude 

that the identity of the security necessarily has any bearing on whether a 

purchase or sale is domestic within the meaning of Morrison.” Absolute Activist, 

677 F.3d at 69. The Second Circuit Absolute Activist, specifically considered 

and rejected an argument that a test based on conducts and effects, rather 

than location, was “necessary to determine whether each individual defendant 

engaged in at least some conduct in the United States.” Id. The court stated 

that “lack of contact” might be relevant to a personal jurisdiction analysis but 

held that “the transactional test announced in Morrison does not require that 
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each defendant alleged to be involved in a fraudulent scheme engage in 

conduct in the United States.” Id. Thus, the court concluded, “rather than 

looking to the identity of the parties, the type of security at issue, or whether 

each individual defendant engaged in conduct within the United States, we 

hold that a securities transaction is domestic when the parties incur 

irrevocable liability to carry out the transaction within the United States or 

when title is passed within the United States.” Id.  

For precisely the same reasons, the fact that the ADRs at issue here were 

officially “unsponsored” is not relevant to the scope of the Act. Whether 

Alcollezione expressly participated in or approved establishment of the 

American depositary receipts is not properly part of the Morrison bright line 

analysis for determining whether the Act applies. The Circuit Court's contrary 

ruling was error.  

The general rule of Absolute Activist – that the “identity of the security” is 

not determinative—is grounded in facts similar to the ones in this case and is 

more consistent with both SEC regulations and Morrison's bright line rule. 677 

F.3d at 69. Alcollezione should not be allowed to divert the court with 

assertions grounded in the “unsponsored” nature of these ADRs. Application of 

the Act is a question of location. Because the transactions here were transacted 

domestically, the Act applies.  

C. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN REVIVING THE “CONDUCT” AND 
“EFFECTS” TEST THAT THE SUPREME COURT REJECTED IN 
MORRISON 
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In reaching its conclusion, Morrison explicitly rejected earlier tests that 

predicated the Act’s applicability on “conduct” in the United States or “effects” 

on American securities markets. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 257. The Supreme Court 

unambiguously disavowed the conduct and effects analysis in Morrison and 

instructed that the reach of the Act is determined by a clear transactional test: 

“Whether the purchase or sale is made in the United States, or involves a 

security listed on a domestic exchange.” Id. at 269-70.  

Making findings that were relevant to Morrison test, the Circuit Court 

here found that the securities involved were “both sold and purchased in the 

United States.” R. at 14. Nonetheless, the Circuit Court went further, and 

erroneously analyzed factors that constitute the “conduct” and “effects” of the 

transaction. The Circuit Court erred by adding its own additional requirements 

to the bright line test established by the Supreme Court.  

In so holding, the Circuit Court reinvigorated the rejected “conduct” and 

“effects” tests by categorizing the actions surrounding the transaction as 

“predominantly foreign,” a consideration that has no relevance to the test set 

from Morrison. The Circuit Court erroneously pointed to considerations such as 

where the fraudulent statements were made and who the fraudulent 

misstatements were directed at. R. at 15-16. These considerations are 

irrelevant to the determination of extraterritorial application for the Act. The 

Circuit Court cannot ignore Morrison’s clear rule in favor of its own standard. 

As the Supreme Court expressly rejected the “conduct” and “effects” test 

in Morrison, the Circuit Court erred when it considered factors beyond the 
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location of the transaction. Under Morrison, the inquiry ends after a finding 

that a transaction is made in the United States, or involves a security listed on 

a domestic exchange. Applying Morrison here, the relevant consideration for 

determining the Act's reach is not that some of the conduct related to 

Alcollezione's fraud occurred in Italy, but rather that investors who purchased 

ADRs of Alcollezione in domestic transactions were defrauded by that conduct. 

Therefore, the court explicitly defied Morrison by considering factors regarding 

the conduct and effect of the transaction at issue.  

The finding that the transaction is “predominantly foreign” based on 

irrelevant considerations was a ruling in error and should be reversed.  

II. CATO’S INSERTION OF A FRAUDULENT STATEMENT INTO 
INVESTOR MATERIALS MAKES HER PRIMARILY LIABLE UNDER 
RULE 10B-5(A) OR 10B-5(C) BECAUSE THE PROVISIONS OF RULE 
10B-5 ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE AND PRIMARY LIABILITY 
COVERS THE CONDUCT IN QUESTION.  

 
 Although the text of Section 10(b) does not provide an explicit cause of 

action, the Court recognized an implied cause of action that permits private 

plaintiffs to bring suit. See Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc., 573 U.S. 

258, 267 (2014). The SEC promulgated Rule 10b-5 to identify the type of 

conduct that creates liability under Section 10(b). See 17 CFR § 240.10b-5. It 

prohibits any person, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security, 

from: (a) employing any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, (b) making any 

untrue statement of a material facts or omitting to state a material fact to make 

a statement misleading, or (c) engaging in any act, practice, or course of 

business which operates as fraud. Id.  
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 Cato is primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(a) or 10b-5(c) for inserting a 

false or misleading statement into investor materials, at the insistence of her 

supervisor, even though she is not the maker of the statement for the purposes 

of Rule 10b-5(b). This is true for two reasons: first, 10b-5(a) or 10b-5(c) is not 

mutually exclusive with 10b-5(b), and second, an actor can be subject to 

primary liability under 10b-5(a) or 10b-5(c). For these reasons, the Circuit 

Court’s ruling should be reversed.  

A. CATO IS SUBJECT TO LIABILITY UNDER RULE 10B-5(A) OR 10B-5(C) 
BECAUSE THESE PROVISIONS ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE 
WITH 10B-5(B) AS DEMONSTRATED BY THE TEXT OF RULE 10B-5, 
PRECEDENT, RELIANCE ON THIS PRECEDENT, AND PURPOSE OF 
THE RULE.  

 
 Petitioner concedes that Cato does not face liability under Rule 10b-5(b). 

She was not the “maker” of the statements in question because Marconi 

exercised “ultimate authority” over them. Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First 

Derivative Traders, 564 U.S. 135, 144 (2011) (holding the maker of a statement 

for Rule 10b-5(b) is the entity with ultimate authority over its content). Notably, 

it is not clear from the record if Marconi actually altered Cato’s statements, or 

whether they were entered into the slide deck, financial statements, and 

website as written.  

However, Cato’s conduct subjects her to liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or 

(c) because these provisions are not mutually exclusive with 10b-5(b). Rule 

10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c) can cover the conduct in question because of the text of 

Rule 10b-5, Supreme Court precedent, the reliance of lower courts on this 

precedent, and the purpose of the Rule.  
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i. PROVISIONS OF RULE 10B-5 ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE 
BECAUSE OF THE RULE’S TEXT.   

 
All analyses begin, and many can end, with the text of the statute or 

rule, and nothing in the text of Rule 10b-5 suggests its provisions are meant to 

be mutually exclusive. The text of the statute controls the conduct covered by 

Rule 10b-5, and the express language of Rule 10b-5(a)-(c) should be read 

broadly rather than narrowly. See Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First 

Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A. 511 U.S. 164, 175 (1994) (holding the text 

controls any consideration of statutory duties in cases involving Section 10b); 

Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 151 (1972) (holding 10b-

5(a) and 10b-5(c) should be read inclusively rather than restrictively);  SEC v. 

Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. 180, 198, 200 (1963) (holding 

securities law frequently includes both broad and narrow proscriptions that 

may be viewed as surplusage in other contexts). The text here is 

straightforward: Rule 10b-5(a) prohibits “employ[ing] any device, scheme, or 

artifice to defraud” and Rule 10b-5(c) prohibits “engag[ing] in any act, practice, 

or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit 

upon any person.” 17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5(a), (c). Cato writing fraudulent 

statements and inserting those statements into documents, distributed across 

various channels, falls within the common sense meaning of “scheme” under 

Rule 10b-5(a) and an “act” or “course of business” that “operate[s] as fraud or 

deceit.” In fact, inducing investors through fraudulent financial statements and 

falsely representing a company’s financial prospects are the paradigmatic 

examples of conduct covered by Rule 10b-5, not merely Rule 10b-5(b). 
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Superintendent of Ins. Of N.Y. v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 8-9 

(1971). This is especially true considering that the provisions of Rule 10b-5(a) 

and Rule 10b-5(c) are meant to be read broadly.1 Thus, the text and 

interpretation of Rule 10b-5(a)-(c) are clear: the provisions (a)-(c) can cover 

overlapping conduct and these overlaps are commonplace in securities law.  

ii. PROVISIONS OF RULE 10B-5 ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE 
BECAUSE OF PRECEDENT.  

 
Supreme Court precedent dictates that provisions of Rule 10b-5(a)-(c) are 

not mutually exclusive. A person who disseminates false statements with the 

intent to defraud is primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(a) or 10b-5(c), even if the 

person did not “make” the statement under 10b-5(b). Lorenzo v. SEC, 139 S. 

Ct. 1094, 1100-01 (2019). In Lorenzo, Francis Lorenzo, a vice president of an 

investment bank, sent two emails that included fraudulent valuations of a 

company’s assets at the direction of his boss. Id. at 1099. Lorenzo’s boss 

supplied the content and approved the message, which Lorenzo sent to 

investors despite his skepticism of the valuation. Id. The Court accepted that 

Lorenzo could not be liable under Rule 10b-5(b) under Janus’s “ultimate 

                                                
1 Respondent’s will claim Rule 10b-5(b) must be read as mutually exclusive with other 
provisions of Rule 10b-5 because otherwise Rule 10b-5(b) would be superfluous and 
redundant. This use of the semantic canon ejusdem generis and anti-superfluous language 
ignores two primary points: first, there is no need to resort to canons when the text is 
unambiguous, and two, any canon can be countered by another canon. Here, the language of 
the regulation and statute are unambiguous, and Cato’s conduct clearly falls within the 
definition. However, even if the Court disregards the text, the semantic canon in pari materia 
counters respondents’ canonical interpretation. In pari materia dictates that the meaning of a 
law can be derived in light of other statutes on the same subject matter. Indeed, the Court 
interpreted other securities law provisions broadly, finding “no warrant for narrowing 
alternative provisions...[that were] adopted with the purpose of affording added safeguards.” 
United States v. Naftalin, 441 U.S. 768, 774 (1979) (interpreting § 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act 
of 1933). 
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authority” test, as defendant Lorenzo was not the maker of the statements 

since he did not have ultimate authority over them. Id. at 1100. However, it 

found Lorenzo primarily liable under 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c) because these 

provisions were “sufficiently broad to include within their scope the 

dissemination of false or misleading information with the intent to defraud.” Id. 

at 1101. Like Lorenzo, investors received Cato’s fraudulent assurances. R. at 5-

6. Also like Lorenzo, Cato did so at the direction of her supervisor, despite her 

skepticism. R. at 5.  Finally, like Lorenzo, Cato did so in her official capacity as 

a senior executive of Alcollezione. R. at 6. In fact, only two differences exist 

between the cases. While Lorenzo’s supervisor drafted his statements, Cato 

drafted the fraudulent assurances on her own, suggesting she played an even 

more active role than Lorenzo in the scheme. Second, Lorenzo’s fraudulent 

valuations were only disseminated via his email while Cato’s were disseminated 

via slide deck, paper copies of financial statements, and the Investor Relations 

section of Alcollezione’s webpage. R. at 6. Again, this suggests even broader 

dissemination than Lorenzo, and, thus, a more egregious violation of Rule 10b-

5. Under the precedent established in Lorenzo, Cato is liable for her role in 

disseminating fraudulent assurances under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c).  

iii. COURTS RELY ON THE PRECEDENT THAT PROVISIONS OF RULE 
10B-5 ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE.  

 
Not only do Lorenzo and Affiliated Ute Citizens clearly support the 

proposition that Rule 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c) are not mutually exclusive, lower 

courts have relied on the precedent they set. To overturn precedent, such as 
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the precedent in Lorenzo or Affiliated Ute Citizens, the Court must provide a 

“special justification.” Halliburton, 573 U.S. at 266. Not only do respondents 

fail to provide a special justification for cabining Lorenzo and Affiliated Ute 

Citizens to their facts, they also ignore that lower courts have expressly relied 

on these holdings. This reliance is demonstrated in SEC v. Seethruequity, LLC.  

2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71997 (S.D.N.Y. 2019). The Southern District of New 

York found scheme liability under Rule 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c) when defendants 

inflated stock prices on research reports for investors and falsely represented 

compensation issues on those reports. Id. at *5. The Seethruequity court 

explicitly analogized the case to Lorenzo. Id. at *12.  To cabin Lorenzo to its 

facts, or ignore the broad reading of Rule 10-b-5 established by Affiliated Ute 

Citizens, not only robs future litigants of consistency within the law but also 

effectively overturns precedent without providing the requisite “special 

justification.” Thus, the precedent set in Lorenzo should remain intact and 

apply to the conduct in this case.  

iv. PROVISIONS OF RULE 10B-5 ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE 
BECAUSE OF THE RULE’S PURPOSE. 

 
Finally, an inclusive, rather than exclusive, reading of Rule 10b-5(a)-(c) 

conforms to the purpose of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. The fundamental 

purpose of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, which includes Section 

10(b), was to generate a high standard of business ethics in securities and 

provide a flexible remedy for fraud. Affiliated Ute Citizens, 406 U.S. at 152; 

Capital Gains Research Bureau, 375 U.S. at 186; Bankers Life & Casualty Co., 
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404 U.S. at 12. In fact, the SEC has long interpreted the provisions of Rule 

10b-5 as overlapping to support the Act’s purpose. In re Cady, Roberts & Co., 

40 S.E.C. 907, *4 (Nov. 8, 1961); In re Ward La France Truck Corp., 13 S.E.C. 

373 (May 20, 1943). By reading the provisions of 10b-5 as mutually exclusive, 

the Court would create a loophole that frustrates the very purpose of the Rule. 

It would provide a blueprint for an employee seeking to deceive investors: an 

employee could draft and disseminate fraudulent statements to investors so 

long as that employee was a subordinate, and therefore precluded from 10b-

5(b) liability. Respondents may argue that an inclusive reading of Rule 10b-5 

may open the floodgates of securities litigation. However, this type of anti-fraud 

litigation is exactly the purpose of Rule 10b-5 and Section 10b. Without some 

form of legal liability there is no incentive for the subordinate employee to 

actually follow the law. Applied to this case, Cato would be able to disseminate 

assurances she knew were false – assurances that created great financial loss 

for investors – with no legal consequences. Further, investors would be denied 

any remedy for her fraudulent activity. A broad reading is in line with the 

purpose of Rule 10b-5, and Cato should be liable under both 10b-5(a) and 10b-

5(c).  

B. CATO IS PRIMARILY LIABLE BECAUSE HER ACTIONS 
CONSTITUTED DISSEMINATION, HER ROLE AS A SECONDARY 
ACTOR DOES NOT PRECLUDE PRIMARY LIABILITY, AND 
SECONDARY LIABILITY IS INAPPROPRIATE GIVEN CATO’S 
INVOLVEMENT IN THE CONDUCT IN QUESTION.  
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Under either Rule 10b-5(a) or 10b-5(c) Cato is primarily liable. Cato 

disseminated the fraudulent assurances, her role as a secondary actor in 

Alcollezione does not preclude primary liability, and secondary liability is 

wholly inappropriate given Cato’s direct involvement in the fraudulent scheme.  

i. CATO’S ACTIONS SUBJECT HER TO PRIMARY LIABILITY AS A 
DISSEMINATOR.  

 
 Cato faces primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or 10b-5(c) because she 

disseminated the fraudulent assurances by inserting the assurances into 

investor documents. There is not a statutory definition of disseminate, but this 

Court presumed dissemination, and found primary liability, when an actor 

emailed false statements to two investors at the direction of his supervisor. 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1099, 1101. The number of channels that contained 

Cato’s assurances far exceeds the two emails sent in Lorenzo; if the Court 

found dissemination in that case then dissemination, and thus primary 

liability, must be appropriate here. Respondents may argue cases such as 

Janus and Stoneridge counsel against a finding of liability for anything less 

than a “maker” of a statement. 564 U.S. at 143; Stoneridge Investment 

Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., 552 U.S. 148, 165 (2008). However, a 

finding of primary liability for Cato under Rule 10b-5(a) or 10b-5(c) does not 

threaten these holdings. Both Janus and Stoneridge considered primary 

liability under 10b-5(b) only. See Janus, 564 U.S. at 141; Stoneridge, 552 U.S. 

at 155. Neither case considered whether a person secondarily liable under Rule 

10b-5(b) could be primarily liable under another provision of the Rule. Janus 
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and Stoneridge still remain the standard for any actor who makes a false 

statement and has ultimate authority over that statement; however, 

respondents cannot bootstrap the liability standard for Rule 10b-5(a) or Rule 

10b-5(c) into Janus and Stoneridge’s Rule 10b-5(b) liability standard. For 

actors like Cato, who disseminated a false statement but were not the maker of 

that statement, Lorenzo remains the standard. Therefore, finding Cato 

primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(a) or 10b-5(c) is both appropriate because 

she was a disseminator of false information inserted directly into documents 

for investors and because Lorenzo dictates that primary liability exists under 

Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).  

ii. CATO CAN STILL BE PRIMARILY LIABLE EVEN THOUGH SHE IS A 
SECONDARY ACTOR.  

 
Further, Cato’s role as a secondary actor within Alcollezione does not 

preclude her from primary liability under Rule 10b-5. Secondary actors, such 

as attorneys for a corporation, can be primarily liable even if they are not 

named in the documents at issue. See Central Bank of Denver, 511 U.S. at 191 

(holding securities fraud often has multiple violators and a secondary actor 

such as a lawyer who makes a material misstatement may be liable as a 

primary violator); Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 386 (1983) 

(holding individual who prepared a registrations statement, such as an 

attorney, may be primarily liable even when they are not named as having 

prepared or certified the document). Moreover, a person may be primarily liable 

under one provision, such as Rule 10b-5(a) or 10b-5(c), even if they would only 
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be secondarily liable under another provision, such as Rule 10b-5(b). Lorenzo, 

139 S. Ct. at 1103-04 (noting a person who sold an unregistered firearm to a 

bank robber could be primarily liable for the gun sale and secondarily liable for 

the robbery). Although Cato was not the CEO of Alcollezione, she had 

substantial responsibility within the corporation. She was a senior executive of 

the corporation, and, as General Counsel, the highest-ranking authority on 

legal decisions. Although she did not have “ultimate authority” under the 

Janus test, and thus would not be primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(b), she 

can, and should, still be primarily liable under the remaining provisions of the 

Rule.  

iii. CATO’S CONDUCT FAR EXCEEDS THE CONDUCT COVERED BY 
SECONDARY LIABILITY.  

 
Even if this Court remains skeptical about Cato’s primarily liability 

claim, it is beyond question that she is an inappropriate candidate for 

secondary liability because she played an active role in the conduct proscribed 

by Rule 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c).  This Court recognized that Section 10b primary 

liability and aiding and abetting secondary liability are mutually exclusive. 

Cent. Bank, N.A., 511 U.S. at 177-78. Therefore, if this Court finds Cato was 

not primarily liable, despite her role in disseminating the fraudulent 

assurances, it would have to shoehorn Cato’s conduct into secondary aiding 

and abetting liability. Secondary aiding and abetting liability is not an 

appropriate charge for Cato because her actions are more egregious than the 

actions aiding and abetting liability covers. Aiding and abetting liability covers 
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acts “that are not themselves manipulative” and people “who do not engage in 

the proscribed activities at all, but who give a degree of aid to those who do.” 

Id. at 176-78; see also Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101 (holding primary liability 

may be inappropriate for someone tangentially related such as a mailroom 

clerk, but not a vice president of the company); Affiliated Ute Citizens, 406 U.S. 

at 154 (holding two actors primarily liable because their actions were “more 

than ministerial functions”). In this case, Cato was a senior executive who 

served as the primary legal representation for Alcollezione. She was hired 

specifically for her legal acumen, after the other two senior executives 

acknowledged their shortcomings in this area. R. at 2. Further, Marconi more 

than once admitted he was “more of a marketing guy” and the person who 

would handle “the PR blowback,” not the legal issues. R. at 4, 5. Although 

Marconi technically outranks Cato, the facts demonstrate that she had de facto 

control over legal decisions for Alcollezione. While respondents may paint Cato 

as an unwilling participant, someone coerced by her boss, the facts tell a 

different story: Cato graduated at the top of her class, she spent nine years 

working for Marconi, and she was the primary, if not the only, legal expert for 

the corporation. R. at 2, 6. These are not the traits of someone easily coerced 

by a mere performance review. Cato knew what she was doing when she 

crafted and disseminated the fraudulent assurances, and her actions were far 

more than ministerial. Therefore, Cato should be primarily liable, if only for the 

fact that secondary liability is wholly inappropriate for her level of engagement 

with this fraud.  
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CONCLUSION 
 

For all the foregoing reasons, we ask that this Court reverse the Circuit 

Court’s judgement and dismiss Defendant-Appellee’s motion to dismiss on both 

issues, holding that the Securities Exchange Act applies to the transaction at 

issue and that Defendant-Appellee may be held primarily liable.  

 

 

 

 


